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“We have always held 
to the hope, the belief, 
the conviction that 
there is a better life, a 
better world, beyond the 
horizon.”
– Franklin D. Roosevelt



OUR VISION
To be a values-driven Centre, building strong 
families and forming a caring community.

OUR MISSION
To reach out and touch lives, meeting the 
needs of the community and providing 
relevant services with respect, warmth and 
professionalism.

OUR PURPOSE
To provide relevant services to support the 
needs of low income and/or vulnerable 
individuals and families in the community in 
Singapore.

INTEGRITY
We act in ways that 
are consistent with 
the values, beliefs and 
principles we claim to 
hold.
principles we claim to 
hold.

About Us About Us

About Sembawang Family Service Centre
Sembawang Family Service Centre (SFSC) is a Voluntary Welfare Organisation incorporated 
under the Societies and Charities Acts of Singapore. We are also a registered Charity and an 
Institution of a Public Character (IPC) under the Ministry of Social and Family Development, and 
have Constitution as our governing instrument. The Covenant Community Methodist Church 
(CCMC) is a strategic and founding partner to SFSC.

Registered address:  326 Sembawang Crescent #01-52 Singapore 750326

Unique Entity Number:  T11SS0143D

Auditors:  Helmi Talib LLP
 133 Cecil Street #15-02 Keck Seng Tower Singapore 069535

Bankers: OCBC Bank, United Overseas Bank Limited (UOB)

OUR VALUES

RESPECT
We regard each 
person as unique, 
with his/her inherent 
dignity and worth 
regardless of 
individual diff erences 
or cultural ethnicity.

TEAMWORK
We believe that our 
greatest potential 
can only be achieved 
in a collaborative 
environment of 
common purpose and 
shared success.

PROFESSIONALISM
We adhere to 
high standards of 
professional ethics 
and moral principles 
in our work and 
practice.

CARE
We serve others with 
a heart of compassion 
and have their best 
interests at heart.
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Five years ago when I assumed Chair of the 
Management Committee, SFSC experienced 
a 22% increase in total cases (reported in 
FY2018/2019). While we analysed the reasons 
for the surge in cases, we took immediate 
steps to expand our social work team and 
re-organised our resources to handle more 
increases.  

The following year, SFSC restructured our 
clinical supervision and intake teams and 
we were able to keep pace with further 
increases in cases for the next two years; 
18% in FY2019/20 and 17.9% in FY2020/21. 
Additionally, we again reorganised and 
expanded our team to better manage HR, 
corporate services and programmes in the past 
year. This has again proven helpful as SFSC 
saw yet another, albeit smaller, increase for 
FY2021/22.

Looking back, SFSC has seen an 80% increase 
in cases over the last 5 years, growing at an 
average 16% year-on-year (YoY). The growth 
in our cases is substantial given that each year 
is coming off  a higher base. If one considers 
that the average growth for all family service 
centres (FSCs) for the same period is about 8% 
YoY, the rise in SFSC’s cases and capacity to 
cope is noteworthy. 

While we are appreciative that SFSC has been 
able to step up to help more clients, we are 
aware that the transformation we’ve had to 
undergo in the process, is building us stronger 
and better equipped to face the changes 
ahead. 

Since last year, Family Violence has overtaken 
Financial Assistance as SFSC’s top presenting 
issue. In fact, Financial Assistance cases 
have been declining in the past 2 years 
while Emotional, Marital and Parent-child 
Management issues have all seen marked YoY 
increase, with Emotional now being the third 
most presented issue at SFSC. 

The change in our cases necessitates us to 
continue to deepen capabilities and raise 
our practice standards to handle complex 
issues. The Ministry of Social and Family 
Development’s plans to strengthen FSCs’ 
capabilities and capacities through the 
implementation of sector indicators and 

Message from Management Committee Chairperson Message from Management Committee Chairperson

standards is thus timely; even as we at SFSC 
are already stepping up our organisational 
development to meet these demands.

2021 also marks SFSC’s 20th Anniversary and 
to celebrate this happy milestone, our team 
launched two programmes with the view that 
these can be our future signature programmes. 

The fi rst, Ready, Get-Teched, Go! is a two part 
intervention to help disadvantaged families 
bridge the digital divide. 20 low-income 
families were gifted by SFSC with laptops 
and related equipment plus software while 
34 volunteers from the Singapore Computer 
Society helped deliver, set up and induct our 
clients to the digital lifestyle including internet 
safety. Further incentives were also given to 
our clients to sign up for e-learning courses.

The second programme is an updated 
community shelf concept called “BAIK Shop” 
where BAIK which is Malay for ‘good’, also 
stands for Bringing Abundance In Kindness. 
SFSC plans to avail groceries 24/7 by way of 
a vending machine that is activated via QR 
codes which are electronically conveyed to 
our clients and others in need. However due to 
supply chain disruptions, our vending machine 
will only be operational by later half of 2022 
and thereafter, a mainstay of our continuing 
eff orts to support disadvantaged families. 

The year has seen many other attainments 
by our team which are detailed in this annual 
report. Looking back, I am inspired and 
touched by the eff orts put in by our staff , 
board members, founding partner Covenant 
Community Methodist Church and many other 
partners. I would like to express my heartfelt 
appreciation to all of them. 

While Covid measures have been relaxed, the 
virus and its impact continue to cause tensions 
and strain institutions and individuals alike. An 
organisation’s 20th year anniversary is indeed 
cause to celebrate which SFSC is doing with 
our new programmes. However at the same 
time, we are mindful to continue to bolster 
ourselves as we go into the next 20 years and 
more.   

April Lee

SFSC TOTAL CASES

Year  Total Cases  % Increase
  YoY

FY2021/22 1,958 6.1%
FY2020/21 1,845 17.9%
FY2019/20 1,565 18%
FY2018/19 1,324 22%

* In 2017/18, total cases handled was 1082

SFSC takes delivery of its BAIK vending machine which will 
provide groceries 24/7 to families in need.
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MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Chairman
Lee Mei Li April

Vice Chairman
Chau-Lee Siew Lin

Secretary
Hau Wei Qee Rachel

Treasurer
Chia Yuan Ming Gerald

Assistant Treasurer
Cheong Boo Suan Nancy

Members
Khoo Kim Geok Jacqueline
Tan Chue Loon Michelle
Sun Peng Lee Rosalind
(until 19.08.2021)
Eliza Lian-Ding Hui Chien 
Tham Bok Mun Kenneth

Ex-officio
Chia Choon Hoong
Khong Chee Ping Brenda
Lim Chu Un Joseph 
(until 30.11.2021)
Cheryl Kee-Giam Mun-Ye 
(since 1.12.2021)

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDANCE

     Attendance   
   at Board  
  Date of First Meetings  Occupation and
Name Designation Appointment & AGM Experience 

Lee Mei Li April Chairman 31.07.2017 7/7 Retired. Former SVP, Head of   
    Corporate Communications,   
    Mapletree Investments Pte Ltd 

Chau-Lee Siew Lin Vice Chairman 31.07.2017 7/7 Retired. Former Legal Counsel,  
    V-Key Pte Ltd 

Hau Wei Qee Rachel Secretary 31.07.2019 6/7 Researcher, Institute of Policy Studies 
     
Chia Yuan Ming Gerald Treasurer 13.08.2020 7/7 Accounting Manager, Fiduciary Asia 
 Chairman, Finance    Business Outsourcing Pte Ltd 
 Sub-Committee
 
Cheong Boo Suan Nancy Assistant Treasurer 28.07.2016 7/7 Retired. Former Director of 
 Member, Finance    Administration and Director of 
 Sub-Committee    Human Resource, Ernst & Young
 and Human Resource 
 Sub-Committee 

Khoo Kim Geok Jacqueline Member 31.07.2017 6/7 Director, JC Trust Ltd
 Chairman, 
 HR Sub-Committee 

Tan Chue Loon Michelle Member 31.07.2019 7/7 Retired. Former Banker, UBS 

Sun Peng Lee Rosalind Member 01.10.2011 2/2 Counsellor / Certified ACTA Trainer,  
    Life Solution Counselling &  
    Training Services

Eliza Lian-Ding Hui Chien Member 31.07.2019 6/7 Counselling Psychologist, KALL  
    Psychological & Counselling  
    Services Pte Ltd

Tham Bok Mun Kenneth Member 19.11.2020 7/7 Retired. Former Corporate Banker,  
    Head of Commercial Clients  
    (Singapore Branch),  
    Standard Chartered Bank 

Chia Choon Hoong Ex-officio 25.01.2018 5/7 Investment Officer,  
    Pavilion Capital International

Lim Chu Un Joseph Ex-officio 21.01.2021 0/4 Family Life/ Small Group/ 
    Men’s Ministry/Worship Team Trainer,  
    Covenant Community Methodist  
    Church

Cheryl Kee-Giam Mun-Ye Ex-officio 01.12.2021 1/3 Church Counsellor, Covenant  
    Community Methodist Church

Leadership TeamLeadership Team

FINANCE SUB-COMMITTEE

Chairman
Chia Yuan Ming Gerald

Member
Cheong Boo Suan Nancy

HR SUB-COMMITTEE

Chairman 
Khoo Kim Geok Jacqueline

Members 
Cheong Boo Suan Nancy
Bo Chai Hiah

*  Attendance is indicated as the number of meetings attended over the number of meetings scheduled. As the Management 
Committee members might be appointed or could resign during the financial year, the number of meetings scheduled may vary. 
Joseph Lim was on long term medical leave in 2021.
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Leadership Team SFSC Family

* None of our three most senior and highest paid staff  serves as a governing board member of SFSC.
*  One of the paid staff  is a close member of the family belonging to the Executive Director and has received remuneration exceeding 

$50,000 during the fi nancial year, between $50,000 to $150,000.

FINANCE SUB-COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDANCE

Name  Designation  Attendance at Committee Meetings
Chia Yuan Ming Gerald Chairman 1/1
Cheong Boo Suan Nancy Member 1/1

TOTAL ANNUAL REMUNERATION OF OUR TOP THREE SENIOR STAFF

Remuneration Bands  No. of Staff 
$150,001 to $200,000 2
$100,000 to $150,000 1

HUMAN RESOURCE SUB-COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDANCE

Name  Designation  Attendance at Committee Meetings
Khoo Kim Geok Jacqueline Chairman 1/1
Cheong Boo Suan Nancy Member 1/1
Bo Chai Hiah Member 1/1
Lee Mei Li April Ex-offi  cio 1/1

*  The Chairman of the Management Committee is an ex-offi  cio member of all Sub-Committees and has the right to attend all 
meetings.

MEETING ATTENDANCE OF SFSC EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Name  Designation  Date of First Attendance  Qualifi cation and
  Appointment at Board  Experience
   Meetings
   & AGM

Khong Chee Ping Brenda Executive Director 01.09.2020 7/7 •  20 years of experience in social 
work and managing teams

    • Registered Social Worker
    •  Master of Social Work, Singapore 

University of Social Sciences
    •  Alumni, National University of 

Singapore

*  The Executive Director will attend all meetings as an ex-offi  cio member of the Management Committee but does not vote at the 
meetings

SFSC Annual Report FY 2021 / 22  SFSC Annual Report FY 2021 / 22  98



KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS TOP 5 “PRESENTING” ISSUES MANAGED

BY CASES

Number of Closed Cases 195

Number of Active Cases (Ave per quarter) 490

Total Number of Enquiries handled 796

Total Number of Sessions 3934

BY PERCENT %

Overall client satisfaction 94%

Demonstrated ability to manage /  
reduce needs & risks 87%

Achieved ≥ 50% of their goals 86%

Successful referrals (Ave) 68%

Increased self-reliance & resilience capacity 78%

Overall Performance Overall Performance

Family Violence 176

 140

Financial Assistance 136

 138

Emotional Issues 114

 81

Marital Issues 94

 83

Parent-child Management 87

 79

CASES 2021   2020 

1958
TOTAL CASES

6.1% increase in total 
cases compared to 

FY2020/2021

277
NEW CASES
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$37,425
The Straits Times School Pocket 
Money Fund (STSPMF)

76 students
(34 Primary School students,  21 
Secondary School students and 21 
Post-Secondary School students)

$90,000
Cash Assistance Programme to 
support clients who face chronic 
and complex issues that affect their 
ability to work - $500 per month x 
3 months = $1500 per family x 30 
families = $45,000 
  
Job Assistance Programme 
to support clients who are fit 
and motivated to seek stable 
employment - 1st month at $500 
and subsequently 4 months at $250 
per month = $1500 per family x 30 
families = $45,000

30 families
for Cash Assistance Programme

30 families
for Job Assistance Programme

$18,415
FSC ComCare Fund (FCF) 
-  Government funding for FSCs 

to serve as Disbursing Agencies 
to assist households that require 
urgent and temporary financial 
relief, based on caseworkers’ 
assessment

62 families
received the aid in cash

$8,000
Festive Food Vouchers from 
Covenant Community Methodist 
Church (CCMC) - $200 for each 
family for Christmas and $150 for 
each family for Chinese New Year. 
This annual support is to bring festive 
joy to the low income and vulnerable 
families.

25 families (Christmas 2020)

20 families (CNY 2021)

$1,800
Lee Foundation’s financial assistance 
to support a low income family with 
monthly cash assistance.

2 families

$6,015
Community Outreach Fund (COF) - 
since Oct 2020 
-  Financial disbursement to Pocket 

Fitness Group Work & Family 
Development Programme (FDP) 
participants ($3,090.00) 

-  Cash aid to low-income clients  
($2,925.00)

7 families
received the cash disbursement 
through their participation in Pocket 
Fitness Group Work & FDP

14 families
received the aid in cash

Overall Performance Overall Performance

EVENTS PARTICIPANTS FINANCIAL DISBURSEMENTS

943 Total No of participants 
(including beneficiaries 
& volunteers) $187,255 SFSC disbursed 

a total of 
$187,255* to 
those in need of 
help

$25,600
SFSC-CCMC Bursary Award 2022 

70 students
38 recipients for primary level ($300 
each) & 32 recipients for secondary 
level ($400 each). Each recipient 
also received $20 popular bookstore 
vouchers (total $1400).

 Total No of   
Name of Event participants  Type of Programme

Hwa Chong Institution’s Outreach to Rental Flats   

a) Cartoon Drawing Virtual Workshop 13 Community work 

b) Ice Cream Making Virtual Workshop  10 Community work 

Care Gifts Distribution to Low Income Community 

a) Collaboration with Agape Connecting People 117 Community work 

b) Collaboration with Covenant Community Methodist Church (CCMC) 35 Community work 

c) Collaboration with ASM Front-End Manufacturing Singapore Pte Ltd (ASM) 60 Community work 

SOWERS Project  4 Community work

SFSC-CCMC Bursary Award 2022  70 Community work

Package Of Love 67 Community Work

Ready, Get-Teched, Go!  54 Community Work

CCMC Christmas Concert  15 Community Work

Canberra Week 2022 300 Community Work

Tuition & Character Building Programme 15 Community Work

Primary 1 Preparatory Lessons for Low Income Families 7 Community Work

Virtual Reading Club by Methodist Girls’ School Girls Brigade  31 Student Care Centre

Christmas Party  31 Student Care Centre

Singapore Management University (SMU) School Holiday Programme  17 Student Care Centre

Homework Clinic  57 Student Care Centre

Anglo Chinese School (Independent) (ACSI) School Holiday Programme  20 Student Care Centre

Children’s Resilience Group Work  13 Group Work

Pocket Fitness Group Work  7 Group Work

 943
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Key Programmes & Events 

Group Work

- Pocket Fitness Group Work & Family Development Programme 

- Children’s Resilience Group Work

Community Work

- Celebrating 20 Years: Ready, Get-Teched, Go! 

- Canberra Week 2022

- Care Gifts To The Community

- Package Of Love

- Partnership with Hwa Chong Institution 

- Primary 1 Preparatory Lessons for Low Income Families

- SOWERS Project 

- SFSC-CCMC Bursary Awards 2022

- Tuition & Character Building Programme

Student Care Centre
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“Being deeply loved 
by someone gives you 
strength, while loving 
someone deeply gives 
you courage.”
– Lao Tzu



Pocket Fitness Group Work & Family Development 
Programme

Pocket Fitness Group Work & Family Development 
Programme

The Pocket Fitness Group Work was fi rst 
conceptualised and carried out in 2017 with 
the purpose of equipping SFSC clients with 
skills to better manage their fi nancial situation 
and improve their fi nancial literacy. In June 
2021, we conducted the fourth run of the 
group work and for the second time virtually 
on the Zoom platform, with a total of 6 bi-
weekly sessions. We had 7 participants for 
this run with an average attendance of 86%. 
Besides educating participants on fi nancial 
knowledge, online assignments were designed 
for them to put their learning into practice, 
such as tracking their expenses and identifying 
their needs and wants to review their spending 
patterns.

Participants gave their feedback that the 
group work had created a supportive 
environment where they were able to relate 
their fi nancial situation with one another 
and share their tips to stretch and maximise 
their limited fi nancial resources. Participants 
also learnt to have more self-awareness and 
self-discipline in managing their household 
expenses.

To help participants further alleviate their 
fi nancial stress by reducing their debts 
or increasing their savings after they had 
completed the group work, SFSC continued 
the partnership with Methodist Welfare 
Services (MWS) and the eligible participants 
were referred to MWS’ Family Development 
Programme (FDP) which is a Debt Repayment 
and Savings Matching Scheme. We were glad 
that 3 out of the 7 participants were able to 
enrol and commit themselves to the FDP for a 
one-year period.

We had 7 
participants for 
this run with 
an average 
attendance of 
86%.
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Children’s Resilience 
Group Work

Children’s Resilience 
Group Work

The Children’s Resilience Group Work is a 
psycho-educational group work programme 
that supports children aged 8 to 10 years old 
from low-income families by equipping them 
with knowledge and skills to regulate their 
emotions, in order to enhance their resiliency 
to better cope with stress and negative 
emotions.

The programme was conducted over a total 
of 6 weekly sessions from May to June 2021. 
There were 13 children who registered for the 
programme, of which 84.6% of them attended 
all the sessions and make-up sessions. 

In view of the COVID-19 safe 
management measures, the 
sessions were conducted 
virtually on the Zoom 
platform and discussions 
with the children were 
facilitated based on story 
books authored by Trace 
Moroney and titled “When 
I’m Feeling Happy”, “When 
I’m Feeling Scared”, “When 
I’m Feeling Angry”  and 
“When I’m Feeling Kind”. 
While the story books were 
being read, certain themes 
were highlighted by the 
facilitators for the children 
to discuss, such as the 
body reactions they might 
experience when they are 
feeling happy, scared or 
angry and what they could 
do to help themselves 

feel better. The group also explored what 
the children could do to express kindness 
to themselves as well as to their family and 
friends.

There were 13 children 
who registered for 
the programme, of 
which 84.6% of them 
attended all the 
sessions and make-up 
sessions.

Over the six weeks, facilitators observed that 
53.8% of the children had an improvement 
in their abilities to actively engage in the 
discussions and 38.5% of them had an 
improvement in sharing their learning and 
refl ections.

From the evaluation of the group work 
through the pre and post surveys, it was worth 
noting that 100% of the children enjoyed 
the programme and learnt more about their 
emotions and feelings, 91.7% of the children 
reported that they knew what to do to 
manage their feelings, 84.6% of the parents 
saw improvements in the children’s emotional 
resilience at the end of six sessions and 92.3% 
of parents saw a sustained change in the 
children’s emotional resilience two months 
after the group work ended.
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As part of SFSC’s 20th Anniversary 
celebrations and our continuous aspiration to 
deliver meaningful community programmes to 
our clients, SFSC embarked on a “tech boost” 
programme to help low-income families keep 
in pace with the evolving digital landscape, 
especially for those with school-going children 
who have to adapt to Home-Based Learning. 

From October 2021 to February 2022, SFSC 
collaborated with Singapore Computer 
Society (SCS) to uplift 20 low-income families 
digitally through the furnishing of new laptops, 
software and IT accessories and a total of 34 
SCS volunteers responded to contribute to the 
cause.

Phase 1 of the programme focused on 
providing IT set-up and acquainting the 
families with the new equipment. 27 SCS 
volunteers participated to help our clients set 

up the new laptops and software and provided 
an orientation to the clients and their family 
members on the usage and trouble-shooting 
of the digital assets.  

Phase 2 of the programme focused on 
strengthening the digital literacy of the 
families. 23 SCS volunteers from Phase 1 and 
7 new volunteers participated to further induct 
the families into the digital lifestyles through 
sharing of basic IT knowledge and skills. 
Clients and their family members were also 
encouraged to tap on their learnt IT skills to 
attend online courses to upgrade themselves, 
with vouchers given out as incentives for 
their eff orts.

Clients were appreciative of the sponsored 
digital infrastructure from SFSC and the 
SCS volunteers’ eff orts. They provided 
feedback that the programme has increased 
their confi dence in using IT equipment and 
navigating the online world. The volunteers 
also shared that they found the programme 
meaningful and engaging and they were glad 
to be able to create a positive impact by 
sharing their knowledge with the community.

Celebrating 20 Years of 
Serving Our Community

Ready, 
Get-Teched, 
Go!

Celebrating 20 Years of 
Serving Our Community

Clients and 
their family 
members were 
also encouraged 
to tap on their 
learnt IT skills 
to attend online 
courses to upgrade 
themselves, with 
vouchers given out 
as incentives for 
their e� orts.
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Canberra Week 2022 Canberra Week 2022

After 2 years of suspension due to COVID 19 
situation, the annual Canberra Day community 
event in Canberra constituency fi nally returned 
and was renamed as “Canberra Week” in 
view of a series of exciting events such as 
Health Talk, Online Water Colour Galaxy 
Themed Painting Workshop, Magic Show and 
Movie Screenings etc that were organised 
by Canberra Community Club together with 
the various Grassroots Organisations for the 
community between 13 March to 20 March 
2022. SFSC was honoured to be invited to 
participate in Canberra Week by setting up 
a game booth on diff erent days to engage 
the residents and to create and enhance 
public awareness about the existence and 
the services provided by SFSC. In total, we 
managed to reach out to about 300 residents. 

Canberra Education Bursary Award was held 
on the morning of 13 March 2022 and SFSC 
was part of the proud celebrations for the 
recipients of the bursary award.

SFSC also carried out its game booth at the 
Movie Screening events at Canberra Zone 5 
Residents’ Network on 15 March 2022 and on 
17 March 2022 at Canberra Zone 1 Residents’ 
Network.

Our game booth turned out to be one of the more popular ones as the game was 
easy to play and the residents could redeem some awesome collaterals. 

Photo with one of the bursary award recipients and Dr Lim 
Wee Kiat, PBM, Adviser to Canberra Grassroots Organisations.

Movie screening by Canberra Zone 1 Residents’ Network at the 
pavilion on 17 March 2022.

The children were queuing up excitedly to play at the game 
booth before the movie screening on 15 March 2022.

In total, we 
managed 
to reach 
out to 
about 300 
residents.
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Care Gifts For the 
Community

Care Gifts For the 
Community

1)  COLLABORATION WITH AGAPE 
CONNECTING PEOPLE

On 8 May 2021, in conjunction with Hari Raya 
Puasa and Mother’s Day celebration, SFSC 
collaborated with Agape Connecting People to 
distribute donated food items from Marina Bay 
Sands to the rental fl at residents living in Block 
106A and 106B at Canberra Street. A total of 
8 volunteers participated in the distribution to 
59 rental fl at units. We carried out a second 
run of distribution of food rations and fresh 
fruits on 21 August 2021 to another 50 units at 
Block 106A and 106B.

The objectives of the distribution events were 
to bless the low-income community with 
food supplies and also increase the residents’ 
awareness of SFSC’s existence and its services 
as well as knowledge on family violence and 
available avenues of help. 

2) COLLABORATION WITH ASM

On 27 January 2022, SFSC collaborated with 
ASM Front-End Manufacturing Singapore 
Pte Ltd, a Dutch semiconductor technology 
company to distribute food rations and 
essential household items consisting of rice, 
oil, biscuits, noodles, canned food, sanitizers, 
face masks and ART kits etc to 40 low-income 
clients of SFSC, as part of ASM’s corporate 
social responsibility. The food rations and 
essential items were purchased with donations 
garnered by ASM among their staff . A total 
of 20 volunteers from ASM were deployed to 
conduct door-to-door distribution of the items 
to the families.

The clients expressed appreciation upon 
receipt of the donation-in-kind as the food and 
essential household items would help to ease 
their fi nancial burden signifi cantly. 

3) COLLABORATION WITH CCMC

In December 2021, the government 
launched the CDC Vouchers Scheme to each 
Singaporean household to thank Singaporeans 
for their sense of solidarity and to support 
local businesses at HDB estates/heartland 
enterprises and hawkers. 10 volunteer-donors 
from Covenant Community Methodist Church 
(CCMC) initiated to donate their CDC vouchers 
to purchase food and essential household 
supplies to distribute to the low-income clients 
of SFSC. In total, 25 x $100 CDC vouchers were 
raised for 25 low-income families.

On 29 January 2022, the volunteer-donors 
came together to pack the items purchased 
with the CDC vouchers into bags and went 
door-to-door in small groups to distribute 
them to the 25 families, along with handmade 
cards to send well wishes to the families for 
the festive season.

The clients expressed 
appreciation upon 
receipt of the 
donation-in-kind as 
the food and essential 
household items 
would help to ease 
their fi nancial burden 
signifi cantly.  
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Package Of Love Package Of Love

Banquet of Love is an annual event organized 
by SFSC and Covenant Community Methodist 
Church (CCMC) to bring SFSC clients and 
CCMC volunteers together to bond with their 
families, friends and neighbours within the 
community through fun activities, showcase of 
talents and scrumptious food. 

On 27 November 2021, the occasion took place 
under the freshly coined “Package Of Love” 
title due to COVID-19 safe measures. Instead 
of hosting the usual group gathering and 
lunch banquet for the SFSC clients, 23 CCMC 
volunteers came together to hand deliver 
goodie bags to 44 low-income families at their 
homes in small groups. The families received 
NTUC vouchers, hygiene essentials and a 
greeting card which is a demonstration of care 
and support for them from CCMC to overcome 
diffi  cult times during the pandemic.

23 CCMC 
volunteers 
came together 
to hand deliver 
goodie bags to 
44 low-income 
families at 
their homes in 
small groups.
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Under the patient 
and encouraging 
guidance from Mr 
Jerry Hinds, the 
children learnt how 
to draw cartoon 
characters like 
Pokémon and Hello 
Kitty in an easy and 
fun way.

Partnership with Hwa 
Chong Institution 

Partnership with Hwa 
Chong Institution 

Under the Community Cares @ North West 
initiative where schools and corporate 
partners would adopt a rental block or studio 
apartment to uplift their lives through events, 
Hwa Chong Institution (HCI) adopted the 
rental fl at of Block 462 at Sembawang Drive 
and invited SFSC’s partnership to organise 
an online Cartoon Drawing Workshop for the 
children living in Block 462.

The workshop was conducted on 31 July 2021 
virtually via the Zoom platform and a total of 
8 children and 5 volunteers participated. The 
students from HCI managed to invite Mr Jerry 
Hinds, a renowned comic artist to conduct the 
session. Under the patient and encouraging 
guidance from Mr Jerry Hinds, the children 
learnt how to draw cartoon characters like 
Pokémon and Hello Kitty in an easy and fun 
way. They were proud of their own drawings 
and commented that it was one of the best 
activities they had participated for a long time 
since the COVID-19 pandemic.

On 14 March 2022, HCI students organised 
another Ice Cream Making Workshop for the 
children from Block 462. 6 children attended 
the event facilitated by 4 HCI students. The 
children had fun learning the science of making 
ice-cream and enjoying the dessert made by 
themselves.

SFSC was glad to be able to partner and 
support the HCI students in carrying out 
these 2 meaningful events to the rental fl at 
community.
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Primary 1 Preparatory 
Lessons for Low Income 
Families

In December 2021, 2 volunteers from Covenant 
Community Methodist Church (CCMC) 
initiated a Primary 1 Preparatory Programme 
to provide English, Mathematics and Reading 
lessons in a small group to 5 of our low income 
clients’ children every Saturday, to better 
prepare them in the transition to Primary level 
academics.

The volunteers sponsored the assessment 
books and stationery, and carefully and 
consistently planned the lessons to cater to 
the diff erent learning pace and needs of the 
children. The clients expressed their sincere 
gratitude to the volunteers for the extra 
academic support rendered to their children.The clients 

expressed 
their sincere 
gratitude to 
the volunteers 
for the extra 
academic 
support 
rendered to 
their children.

SFSC-CCMC Bursary 
Award 2022

In total, 70 
applicants were 
shortlisted for the 
bursary award, and 
they consisted of 
38 primary school 
children and 32 
secondary school 
children.

SFSC-CCMC Bursary Award 2022 was opened 
for application by SFSC clients from 2 October 
to 1 November 2021. In total, 70 applicants 
were shortlisted for the bursary award, and 
they consisted of 38 primary school children 
and 32 secondary school children. Primary 
school children were awarded with $300 each 
and secondary school children received $400 
each. 

Due to the COVID-19 situation, we were unable 
to organize a physical award presentation 
ceremony. Nevertheless, the recipients of 
the bursary award were presented with a 
customised certifi cate and letter via mail in 
November 2021 to congratulate them for 
their good conduct and academic results in 
year 2021. Each recipient also received a $20 
Popular Bookstore voucher and pizza delivery 
from the Covenant Community Methodist 
Church (CCMC). Many of the recipients and 
their parents expressed gratitude towards 
CCMC and SFSC for organizing this annual 
bursary award as it has assisted their families 
fi nancially. It also helped to motivate the 
children to focus on their school work and 
continue to perform better in school. 
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SOWERS Project SOWERS Project

Started in 2010, SOWERS Project aims to 
empower SFSC clients from disadvantaged 
backgrounds by equipping them with skills 
and an avenue to earn supplementary income. 
Participants are taught sewing skills to create 
attractive products from recycled materials 
which are sold to schools, corporates, 
organizations and communities. Our focus is 
to collaborate with like-minded partners who 
share our values of supporting and giving back 
to those in need, to merchandise our range of 
upcycled products and sewing services. 

Despite all odds during the COVID-19 
pandemic, 2021 had brought about 
remarkable results for the SOWERS Project. 
In FY2021/2022, SOWERS managed to work 
with 2 participants and 2 volunteers and was 
privileged to partner corporates and social 
enterprises such as Kate & Avie, One Faber 
Group, Upmart and R3-W. SOWERS gave new 
life to used banners donated by Gardens by 
the Bay and Mary Mount Community Club 
by transforming them into reusable products 
for sale. SOWERS also produced a wide 
range of other unique products, ranging from 
customized embroidery face masks, tote 
bags, pencil cases and wine bags, to ang pow 
pouches, reusable takeaway bags, canvas 
baskets and so on. 

With the ease of the COVID-19 measures, 
SOWERS had the opportunity to collaborate 
with R3-W by displaying its products for sale 
at the Christmas with a Cause Pop-up Booth at 
The Centrepoint and Tzu Chi Humanistic Youth 
Centre in December 2021, and later on at Tzu 
Chi’s Zero Market in March 2022. 

Collaboration with R3-W at Christmas with a Cause event in 
December 2021

Despite all 
odds during 
the COVID-19 
pandemic, 2021 
had brought about 
remarkable results 
for the SOWERS 
Project.

Collaboration with R3-W at 
Tzu Chi’s Zero Market

Collaboration with Upmart

Collaboration with Kate & Avie, 
in partnership with One Faber 
Group
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Since 2017, partnership with Covenant 
Community Methodist Church (CCMC) and 
Auxilium Domine Pte Ltd has brought about 
the success of the Tuition and Character 
Building (TCB) programme. This weekly 
programme supports children from vulnerable 
and disadvantaged families in both academic 
coaching and character building. Classes were 
held on every Tuesday from 4pm to 6.30pm. 
During the 1.5 hours tuition, the children were 
grouped according to their school levels and 
coached by experienced and qualifi ed tutors. 
This was followed by an hour of character 
building session where the children learned 
values for everyday life application, skills 
to manage their academic workload and 
appropriate responses to stressors. 

Tuition and Character 
Building Programme

Tuition and Character 
Building Programme

Despite the constraints posed by 
COVID-19, it is encouraging that 
the parents and children provided 
continual positive feedback about 
the programme in improving the 
children’s academic performance 
and strengthening their character 
for the last fi ve years.

In 2021, TCB programme was conducted 
over the span of 35 weeks from 9 March to 9 
November 2021 with 15 children from Primary 
2 to 6. The programme was carried out in a 
hybrid format of physical and online lessons 
initially but the COVID-19 situation escalated 
in the middle of the year. The team was not 
deterred by the tightened advisories and 
continued with the programme by moving 
all the sessions fully online from 11 May 2021 
onwards. Despite the constraints posed by 
COVID-19, it is encouraging that the parents 
and children provided continual positive 
feedback about the programme in improving 
the children’s academic performance and 
strengthening their character for the last fi ve 
years.

Orientation 
session conducted 
by the tutor with 
the children.

Assessment papers and snacks mailed to the 
children as a booster for their examinations 
preparation.

Gifts given by Auxilium Domine to the children to affi  rm 
their positive behaviour and participation throughout 
the programme.

Meet-the-parents sessions were conducted twice a year to 
discuss the children’s progress and gather feedback from the 
parents.
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In FY2021/2022, our average enrolment at our 
Student Care Centre (SCC) was 45 children 
aged 7 to 12 years old and our student-to-
teacher ratio was at 15:1. For children who 
are in need of fi nancial assistance to pay 
for the student care programme fees or 
are observed to experience psycho-social-
emotional challenges, they will be referred 
to SFSC caseworkers who will follow up with 
the children and their family to render the 
necessary support.

Due to COVID-19, we spent much time and 
eff ort over the year to carry out thorough 
cleaning and disinfection on a daily basis 
and review the safe measures regularly to 
ensure a clean and safe environment for the 
children and staff ’s well-being. We adapted 
and managed to carry out some enrichment 
programmes for the children while adhering 
to the safe distancing measures, such as art 

Sembawang Student 
Care Centre

Sembawang Student 
Care Centre

In FY2021/2022, 
our average 
enrolment at our 
Student Care 
Centre (SCC) was 
45 children aged 
7 to 12 years old 
and our student-to-
teacher ratio was 
at 15:1. 

& craft based on festivals of the year, Father’s 
Day Baking and Christmas Party with indoor 
games.

Volunteers used to provide on-site homework 
coaching to the children to complement the 
daily guidance for homework off ered in groups 
by the SCC staff  according to school levels but 
it had to be suspended for a long duration due 
to COVID-19. Despite all odds, we managed to 
work with student volunteers from Methodist 
Girls’ School Girls Brigade to conduct 8 
sessions of a Virtual Reading Club programme 
in June 2021. We also had 2 secondary 
school student volunteers who provided 
virtual homework coaching to our children in 
November 2021 for 6 sessions. Outings and 
excursions for the children during the school 
holidays had to be suspended due to COVID-19 
but we collaborated with SMU volunteers to 
organise 6 sessions of virtual activities on the 
Zoom platform to cover topics on Internet 
Safety, Christmas, Geography & Culture and 
Financial Literacy during the December 2021 
holidays. During the March school holidays in 
2022, volunteers from Anglo Chinese School 
(Independent) (ACSI) conducted a clay making 
session and an Escape Room-themed game via 
Zoom with 12 of our children. The children had 
the opportunity to learn how to make objects 
using air dried clay and solve puzzles and 
poem riddles together with their peers and the 
volunteers.

SCC March Holiday 
Programme 2022 – ACSI 
volunteers

Volunteers from 
Methodist Girls’ School
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Acknowledgements Corporate Governance

SFSC wishes to acknowledge all our key 
vendors, partners, donors and volunteers 
who have been invaluable in supporting our 
cause, mission and operations, not only in 
terms of finances or in-kind donations but in 
many other ways, such as collaborating with 
us to outreach to and uplift the low-income 
and vulnerable community through various 
designed programmes.

Roles & Responsibilities of Management Committee
SFSC is governed by a Management Committee who are elected volunteers and possess 
diversified backgrounds, skillsets and leadership experiences across private and social 
service sectors, such as finance, accounting, legal, human resource management, corporate 
communications, research, psychology and counselling. This diversity helps the Management 
Committee to make better-informed decisions and to provide strategic direction and guidance 
to the Executive Director and the Senior Management Team in the delivery of the strategic plans 
and SFSC’s day-to-day operations. 

The Management Committee also formed Sub-Committees with specific functions to assist 
in the discharge of its duties. The Sub-Committees formed are the Finance Sub-Committee 
and Human Resource Sub-Committee. The Management Committee is guided by SFSC’s 
Constitution and Terms Of Reference for the Sub-Committees to carry out its authority, duties 
and responsibilities in the stewardship of SFSC. In 2021, the Management Committee has 
also initiated and put in place a 3-year internal audit project to strengthen governance, risk 
management and internal controls at SFSC.

Orientation & Training 
SFSC has developed an induction kit for new Management Committee members where they will 
be issued with organisational information such as SFSC’s vision, mission, services, programmes 
and strategic plans, as well as the Constitution, Terms of Reference, the Code of Conduct 
document, Conflict of Interest Policy, Whistle-blowing Policy, amongst others. In addition, they 
will be invited to do a site visit at SFSC office where they will be further introduced to SFSC’s 
operations, the Executive Director, the Senior Management Team and other SFSC staff. All 
the Management Committee members are encouraged to attend an annual strategic planning 
session and also external trainings relevant to their role from time to time.

Meetings 
Throughout the year, the Management Committee will schedule at least six meetings to exercise 
governance over SFSC’s strategic plans and activities throughout the year. The Executive 
Director of SFSC is an ex officio member who has the right to attend all board meetings but 
does not vote on any resolution of the Management Committee. The Manager of Corporate 
Services and Operations as well as the Finance Executive also attend the board meetings as 
secretariat and to report on relevant activities respectively as SFSC staff. 

During the Annual General Meeting held in August each year and within six months after the 
end of the financial year which ends on 31 March, the Management Committee will undertake a 
self-evaluation assessment, besides going through the Governance Evaluation Checklist from the 
Code of Governance for Charities and Institutions of a Public Character. 
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Corporate Governance Corporate Governance

Human Resource 
All Management Committee members are volunteers and do not receive any remuneration for 
their services. No employed staff of SFSC is a member of the Management Committee, except 
for the Executive Director who is an ex-officio member but does not have any voting rights. 

The SFSC Human Resource Sub-Committee’s Terms of Reference includes providing guidance 
on HR policies and operations relating to recruitment, performance, compensation and benefits, 
and acting as a grievance board for employee complaints. No employee in SFSC is involved in 
deciding his or her own remuneration.

Finance
The SFSC Finance Sub-Committee’s Terms of Reference includes ensuring regular and accurate 
monitoring and accountability for funds and expenditures and report to the Management 
Committee on any financial irregularities and concerns, reviewing budgets to ensure soundness 
and consistency between the budget and the organization’s plans, recommending financial 
guidelines, overseeing short and long-term investments, and advising the Executive Director and 
the finance staff on financial policies and priorities.

SFSC conducts a budgeting exercise for all programmes and events before the beginning of 
the financial year and submits the budget for approval by the Management Committee. Monthly 
financial statements are generated by the finance staff and circulated to the Finance Sub-
Committee to have an overview of the financial performance against the budget.

Reserves Policy
SFSC’s Reserves Policy provides for financial stability and the means for further improvement of 
our activities. We maintain reserves equivalent to 24 months of operating expenditures based on 
the previous year. The Management Committee reviews the accumulated reserves regularly to 
ensure long-term sustainability of SFSC’s activities.

Conflict of Interest Policy
SFSC adheres to its Conflict of Interest Policy to provide guidance in the decisions made by our 
Management Committee, Finance and Human Resource Sub-Committees and staff and this is 
set out in the Centre’s Code of Conduct.

Members of our Management Committee, Sub-Committees and staff will need to sign a Conflict 
of Interest declaration annually and update the Secretary (in the case of the Management 
Committee and Sub-Committees) or the Executive Director (in the case of staff) of any 
change in personal or professional interests which may be construed as being a real, potential 
or apparent conflict with their official duties and role within SFSC. In the event a  conflict of 
interest situation arises, full disclosure must be made and the interested member or staff  must 
abstain from any discussion and voting on the matter.

Whistle-blowing Policy
SFSC is committed to a high standard of Corporate Governance and compliance with all laws,  
regulatory requirements and internal policies. Hence, its whistle-blowing policy aims to establish 
a trusted avenue available for all staff and external parties to raise concerns, of any activity 
that is an actual, suspected, or anticipated wrong-doing within or by SFSC that is within SFSC’s 
ability to manage and control. SFSC assures its staff and external parties that through this 
policy, they will be  protected from reprisals and confidentiality for whistle-blowing in good 
faith. SFSC’s Whistle- blowing Policy is available on our website for reference.

Transparency
After the end of each financial year, SFSC uploads its Annual Report with the summary of its 
financial information and the outcome of the services and programmes carried out over the past 
year on its website and on the Charity Portal for access by members of the public.

Cultural Competency & Diversity 
SFSC is committed to building inclusivity through our hiring policies, services and programmes  
offered and organization practices. We strive to demonstrate respect towards the differences in  
age, religious and cultural beliefs and the abilities etc of the people whom we work with.

Personal Data Protection Act 
SFSC has implemented processes to comply with the Personal Data Protection Act 2012. 
Unless otherwise permitted by law, SFSC obtains consent for the collection, use, disclosure and 
processing of personal data. Consent given may be withdrawn by notification to SFSC. Data 
is also used only for purposes disclosed unless otherwise permitted under the law. Practices 
are also put in place to prevent unauthorized access, collection, use, disclosure, copying, 
modification or disposal of the personal data.

Volunteer Management 
SFSC recognizes the significant role that volunteers can play in providing skills, expertise and 
time to support SFSC and its beneficiaries. In 2021, SFSC recruited a Programme Executive to 
look at building up its Volunteer management Framework and re-designing its programmes to 
include more volunteering opportunities to attract potential and existing volunteers, though the 
COVID-19 pandemic has greatly disrupted volunteer engagement and volunteering activities. 
Over the past year, SFSC has been re-looking and refining its volunteer recruitment and 
management processes, including the digitalisation of volunteer forms and enabling remote 
volunteering via the use of technology. Pre-orientation briefings and post-session debriefs were 
also introduced to better guide the volunteers and enhance their volunteering journey. These 
measures have enabled SFSC to continuously provide volunteering opportunities and engage 
the volunteers during the pandemic.
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Governance Evaluation Checklist (Enhanced Tier) 
Submission for FY2021/2022 

Governance Evaluation Checklist (Enhanced Tier) 
Submission for FY2021/2022 

    Explanation 
    (if Code Guideline is  
S/N Code Guideline Code ID Response  not complied with)

 Board Governance

1 Induction and orientation are provided to incoming  1.1.2 Complied 
 governing board members upon joining the Board. 

  Are there governing board members holding staff1   No 
 appointments? (skip items 2 and 3 if “No”) 

2 Staff does not chair the Board and does not comprise  1.1.3 
 more than one third of the Board.

3 There are written job descriptions for the staff’s executive  1.1.5 
 functions and operational duties, which are distinct from  
 the staff’s Board role. 

4 The Treasurer of the charity (or any person holding an  1.1.7 Complied 
 equivalent position in the charity, e.g. Finance Committee  
 Chairman or a governing board member responsible for  
 overseeing the finances of the charity) can only serve  
 a maximum of 4 consecutive years. 
 
 If the charity has not appointed any governing board  
 member to oversee its finances, it will be presumed that  
 the Chairman oversees the finances of the charity.

5 All governing board members must submit themselves for  1.1.8 Complied 
 re-nomination and re-appointment, at least once every 3 years.

6 The Board conducts self evaluation to assess its performance  1.1.12 Complied 
 and effectiveness once during its term or every 3 years,  
 whichever is shorter.

  Is there any governing board member who has served for   No 
 more than 10 consecutive years? (skip item 7 if “No”)

7 The charity discloses in its annual report the reasons for  1.1.13 
 retaining the governing board member who has served for  
 more than 10 consecutive years. 

8 There are documented terms of reference for the Board  1.2.1 Complied 
 and each of its committees.

    Explanation 
    (if Code Guideline is  
S/N Code Guideline Code ID Response  not complied with)

  Conflict of Interest

9 There are documented procedures for governing board  2.1 Complied 
 members and staff to declare actual or potential conflicts  
 of interest to the Board at the earliest opportunity.

10 Governing board members do not vote or participate in decision 2.4 Complied 
 making on matters where they have a conflict of interest. 

   Strategic Planning

11 The Board periodically reviews and approves the strategic  3.2.2 Complied 
 plan for the charity to ensure that the charity’s activities are  
 in line with the charity’s objectives.

  Human Resource and Volunteer2 Management

12 The Board approves documented human resource policies  5.1 Complied 
 for staff.

13 There is a documented Code of Conduct for governing  5.3 Complied 
 board members, staff and volunteers (where applicable)  
 which is approved by the Board.

14 There are processes for regular supervision, appraisal and  5.5 Complied 
 professional development of staff.

  Are there volunteers serving in the charity? (skip item 15 if “No”)   Yes

15 There are volunteer management policies in place for volunteers. 5.7 Complied

  Financial Management and Internal Controls

16 There is a documented policy to seek the Board’s approval  6.1.1 Complied 
 for any loans, donations, grants or financial assistance provided  
 by the charity which are not part of the charity’s core  
 charitable programmes.

17 The Board ensures that internal controls for financial matters  6.1.2 Complied 
 in key areas are in place with documented procedures.

18 The Board ensures that reviews on the charity’s internal controls,  6.1.3 Complied 
 processes, key programmes and events are regularly conducted.

19 The Board ensures that there is a process to identify, and  6.1.4 Not Complied The process is still 
 regularly monitor and review the charity’s key risks.    ongoing. The Board 
     has engaged RHT to  
     review and enhance  
     the risk management  
     of the Centre over 3  
     years from 2021 to  
     2023.

20 The Board approves an annual budget for the charity’s plans and  6.2.1 Complied 
 regularly monitors the charity’s expenditure.

  Does the charity invest its reserves (e.g. in fixed deposits)?   Yes 
 (skip item 21 if “No”)

21 The charity has a documented investment policy approved by  6.4.3 Complied 
 the Board.

Applicable to large charities with gross annual receipts or total expenditure of $10 million  
or more;
And IPCs with gross annual annual receipts or total expenditure from $500,000 to less than  
$10 million.
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Governance Evaluation Checklist (Enhanced Tier) 
Submission for FY2021/2022 

Governance Evaluation Checklist (Enhanced Tier) 
Submission for FY2021/2022 

    Explanation 
    (if Code Guideline is  
S/N Code Guideline Code ID Response  not complied with)

  Fundraising Practices

  Did the charity receive cash donations (solicited or unsolicited)   Yes 
 during the financial year? (skip item 22 if “No”)

22 All collections received (solicited or unsolicited) are properly  7.2.2 Complied 
 accounted for and promptly deposited by the charity.

  Did the charity receive donations in kind during the financial year?   Yes 
 (skip item 23 if “No”) 

23 All donations in kind received are properly recorded and  7.2.3 Complied 
 accounted for by the charity.

  Disclosure and Transparency

24 The charity discloses in its annual report — 8.2 Complied 
 (a) the number of Board meetings in the financial year; and 
  
 (b) the attendance of every governing board member  
 at those meetings.

  Are governing board members remunerated for their services   No 
 to the Board? (skip items 25 and 26 if “No”)

25 No governing board member is involved in setting his  2.2 
 own remuneration. 

26 The charity discloses the exact remuneration and benefits  8.3 
 received by each governing board member in its annual report. 
 OR 
 The charity discloses that no governing board member is  
 remunerated.

  Does the charity employ paid staff?   Yes 
 (skip items 27, 28 and 29 if “No”) 

27 No staff is involved in setting his own remuneration. 2.2 Complied

28 The charity discloses in its annual report — 8.4 Complied 
 (a) the total annual remuneration for each of its 3 highest paid  
 staff who each has received remuneration (including remuneration  
 received from the charity’s subsidiaries) exceeding $100,000  
 during the financial year; and 
 
 (b) whether any of the 3 highest paid staff also serves as a  
 governing board member of the charity. 
 
 The information relating to the remuneration of the staff must be  
 presented in bands of $100,000. 
 OR 
 The charity discloses that none of its paid staff receives more than  
 $100,000 each in annual remuneration.

    Explanation 
    (if Code Guideline is  
S/N Code Guideline Code ID Response  not complied with)

 29 The charity discloses the number of paid staff who satisfies all of  8.5 Complied 
 the following criteria: 
 (a) the staff is a close member of the family³ belonging to the  
 Executive Head4 or a governing board member of the charity; 
 
 (b) the staff has received remuneration exceeding $50,000  
 during the financial year. 
 
 The information relating to the remuneration of the staff must be  
 presented in bands of $100,000. 
 OR 
 The charity discloses that there is no paid staff, being a close  
 member of the family belonging to the Executive Head or  
 a governing board member of the charity, who has received  
 remuneration exceeding $50,000 during the financial year.

  Public Image

30 The charity has a documented communication policy on the  9.2 Complied 
 release of information about the charity and its activities across  
 all media platforms.

Notes:
1  Staff: Paid or unpaid individual who is involved in the day to day operations of the charity, e.g. an Executive Director or 

administrative personnel.
2  Volunteer: A person who willingly serves the charity without expectation of any remuneration.
3  Close member of the family: A family member belonging to the Executive Head or a governing board member of a charity — 

(a)  who may be expected to influence the Executive Head’s or governing board member’s (as the case may be) dealings with the 
charity; or

 (b)  who may be influenced by the Executive Head or governing board member (as the case may be) in the family member’s 
dealings with the charity.

A close member of the family may include the following:
 (a) the child or spouse of the Executive Head or governing board member;
 (b) the stepchild of the Executive Head or governing board member;
 (c) the dependant of the Executive Head or governing board member.
 (d) the dependant of the Executive Head’s or governing board member’s spouse.
4  Executive Head: The most senior staff member in charge of the charity’s staff.
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“I have come to the 
conclusion that the 
most important 
element in human life 
is faith.” 
– Rose Kennedy
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SEMBAWANG FAMILY SERVICE CENTRE  
UEN: T11SS0143D 
(Registered under the Societies Act, Chapter 311, Singapore) 
 
STATEMENT BY THE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2022 
 

 
1 

 
 
STATEMENT BY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
On behalf of the Management Committee, we, April Lee Mei-Li and Gerald Chia Yuan Ming, being the 
Chairman and Treasurer, respectively of Sembawang Family Service Centre (the “Society”) do hereby state 
that in our opinion, the financial statements as set out on pages 5 to 29 are properly drawn up in accordance 
with the Societies Act, Chapter 311, Charities Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant regulations and Singapore 
Charities Accounting Standard so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Society as at 31 March 2022, and of the financial performance of the Society and cash flows of the Society 
for the financial year then ended. 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Management Committee, 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
 

APRIL LEE MEI-LI 
Chairman 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
 

GERALD CHIA YUAN MING 
Treasurer 
 
 
 
 
Date: 21 July 2022 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO 
THE MEMBERS OF SEMBAWANG FAMILY SERVICE CENTRE  
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of SEMBAWANG FAMILY SERVICE CENTRE (the “Society”), which 
comprise the balance sheet of the Society as at 31 March 2022, the statement of financial activities, and 
statement of cash flows for the financial year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions 
of the Societies Act, Chapter 311 (“the Societies Act”), the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant 
regulations (“the Charities Act and Regulations”) and Charities Accounting Standard (“CAS”) so as to give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of the Society as at 31 March 2022 and of the financial performance, 
and cash flows of the Society for the financial year ended on that date. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Society in accordance with the Accounting and 
Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants 
and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Other matters 
 
The financial statements of the Society for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 were audited by another 
firm of auditors who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 22 July 2021. 
 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Statement by 
Management Committee set out on page 1. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
  



 

 

 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for Financial Statements 
 
The Management Committee is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with the provisions of the Societies Act, the Charities Act and Regulations and CAS, and 
for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable 
assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions 
are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair 
financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Society’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Society or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance comprise the management committee. Their responsibilities include 
overseeing the Society’s financial reporting process. 
 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Society’s internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the management committee. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Society’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Society to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 
  



 

 

 
 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
 
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required to be kept by the Society have been properly kept 
in accordance with the provisions of the Societies Act, and the Charities Act and Regulations. 
 
During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during the 
financial year: 
 
(a) the Society has not used the donation moneys in accordance with its objectives as required under 

Regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and  
 
(b) the Society has not complied with the requirements of Regulation 15 of the Charities (Institutions of a 

Public Character) Regulations 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
___________________________ 
 

HELMI TALIB LLP 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 
 
 
Singapore 
 
 
 
 
 
Partner-in-charge : Suriyati binti Mohamed Yusof 
PAB No. : 01627 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: 21 July 2022

DocuSign Envelope ID: 96BDE894-266B-4858-9F42-424F2A0DF006
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2022 2021 2020

NOTE $ $ $

(Restated) (Restated)
ASSETS

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 28,126             41,011             57,293             

Total Non-Current Assets 28,126             41,011             57,293             

Current Assets
Other receivables 10 189,189           833,935           497,563           
Cash and cash equivalents 11 5,752,396        4,467,484        3,685,922        

Total Current Assets 5,941,585        5,301,419        4,183,485        

TOTAL ASSETS 5,969,711        5,342,430        4,240,778        

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Funds received as disbursement agent 12 21,065             41,290             54,270             
Payables 13 89,463             234,078           214,357           

Total Current Liabilities 110,528           275,368           268,627           

TOTAL LIABILITIES 110,528           275,368           268,627           

NET ASSETS 5,859,183        5,067,062        3,972,151        

FUNDS 

Unrestricted Fund
SCC Accumulated Fund 35,680             76,072             70,643             
Community Outreach Fund 298,207           72,184             67,913             

Total Unrestricted Fund 14 333,887           148,256           138,556           

Restricted Funds
FSC Accumulated Fund 5,499,939        4,885,182        3,768,689        
Financial Assistance Fund -                  -                  11,800             
SOWERS Project Fund 9,558              12,080             15,850             
Care and Share Fund 7,549              10,294             23,006             
Capital Grants Fund 8,250              11,250             14,250             

Total Restricted Funds 15 5,525,296        4,918,806        3,833,595        

TOTAL FUNDS 5,859,183        5,067,062        3,972,151         
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2021

Student Care 
Centre Others

Family Service 
Centre Others Total Total

NOTE $ $ $ $ $ $
(Restated)

INCOME

Income from generated funds

Voluntary income 4 11,347         390,343      206,164         -              607,854     550,124      
Investment income 5 -              -             11,323           -              11,323       29,508       

11,347         390,343      217,487         -              619,177     579,632      

Income from charitable activities 6 150,514       -             3,018,887      4,316          3,173,717   3,074,940   

TOTAL INCOME 161,861       390,343      3,236,374      4,316          3,792,894   3,654,572   

EXPENDITURE

Charitable activities 7 199,961       164,320      2,585,755      6,838          2,956,874   2,543,367   
Governance costs 8 2,292           -                 41,607           -              43,899       16,294       

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 202,253       164,320      2,627,362      6,838          3,000,773   2,559,661   

Net Income/(expenditure) 
before taxation (40,392)        226,023      609,012         (2,522)         792,121     1,094,911   

Taxation -                  -                 -                    -                 -                -                

Net Income/(expenditure), 
representing net movement in 
funds (40,392)        226,023      609,012         (2,522)         792,121     1,094,911   

Reconciliation of Funds
Total funds brought forward 76,072         72,184        4,906,726      12,080        5,067,062   3,972,151   

Total funds carried forward 35,680         298,207      5,515,738      9,558          5,859,183   5,067,062   

 2022 

 Unrestricted Funds  Restricted Funds 
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2022 2021
NOTE $ $

(Restated)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income before taxation 792,121            1,094,911         

Adjustments for: 1,562                (13,226)             

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9 12,885              16,282              
Interest income 5 (11,323)             (29,508)             

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 793,683            1,081,685         

Total changes in working capital 477,244            (338,940)           

Decrease/(increase) in receivables 642,084            (345,681)           
(Decrease)/increase in payables (144,615)           19,721              
Net decrease in funds received as disbursement agent (20,225)             (12,980)             

Net cash flows from operations 1,270,927         742,745            
Interest received 13,985              38,817              
Net cash flows generated from operating activities 1,284,912         781,562            

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,284,912         781,562            
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 4,467,484         3,685,922         
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 5,752,396         4,467,484          
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements. 
 
1 GENERAL INFORMATION 

 
Sembawang Family Service Centre (the “Society”) is registered under the Societies Act (Chapter 311) 
and domiciled in Singapore. The registered office and principal place of business is Blk 326 
Sembawang Crescent, #01-52, Singapore 750326. 
 
The Society is an approved charity under the Charities Act, Chapter 37, Singapore since  
26 September 2011 and an approved Institution of a Public Character ("IPC") for the period from  
1 April 2019 to 31 March 2022. The IPC status has been renewed until 31 March 2025. 
 
The principal activities of the Society involve provision of student care services, casework and 
counselling, information and referral services, preventive and development programmes and activities 
for individuals and families in need. The objective of the programmes and services is to develop and 
strengthen client’s resilience and social support networks within family and community. 
 
There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 
 
The financial statements of the Society for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 were authorised 
for issue in accordance with a resolution as at the date of the Statement by the Management 
Committee. 

 
 
2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
2.1 Basis of preparation 

 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Societies Act, Chapter 
311, Charities Act, Chapter 37 and other relevant regulations (“the Charities Act and Regulations”) 
and Charities Accounting Standard (“CAS”). 
 
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the 
accounting policies below. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollar (“$”), which is the Society’s functional 
currency. 
 
Significant accounting judgements and estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. All these judgements, estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. 
 

  



SEMBAWANG FAMILY SERVICE CENTRE  
UEN: T11SS0143D 
(Registered under the Societies Act, Chapter 311, Singapore) 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2022 
 
 
 

9 

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 

 
Significant accounting judgements and estimates (Continued) 
 
(i) Judgements made in applying accounting policies 
 

Management is of the opinion that there are no critical judgements (other than those involving 
estimates) that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

 
(ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the end of the reporting period are discussed below. The Society based its assumptions 
and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing 
circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to 
market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Society. Such changes 
are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 
 
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 

  
The useful life of an item of property, plant and equipment is estimated at the time the asset 
is acquired and is based on historical experience with similar assets and takes into account 
anticipated technological or other changes. If changes occur more rapidly than anticipated or 
the asset experiences unexpected level of wear and tear, the useful life will be adjusted 
accordingly. The carrying amount of the Society’s property, plant and equipment as at  
31 March 2022 is disclosed in Note 9. 
 

2.2 Adoption of accounting policies 
 
The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Society and are consistent with those 
used in the previous financial year. 

 
2.3 Functional currency 

 
The management has determined the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
Society operates i.e. functional currency, to be Singapore Dollar (“$”). 
 

2.4 Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.  
 
The cost of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase price and any 
directly attributable costs of bringing the property, plant and equipment to working condition for its 
intended use. Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been 
recognised is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Society and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. All other repair and maintenance expense is recognised in the statement of financial activities 
when incurred. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
2.4 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 

 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to allocate the cost of the assets less residual values 
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 

  Years 
Computers  - 3 
Renovation - 5 
Office equipment - 10 
Furniture, fittings and fixtures - 10 

 
The residual values, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected 
pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the items of property, plant and 
equipment. 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on de-recognition of the asset is 
included in the statement of financial activities in the year the property, plant and equipment is de-
recognised. Fully depreciated items are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in 
use. 

 
2.5 Financial assets 

 
Financial assets are any asset that is either cash or equity instrument of another entity of which the 
Society has a contractual right: 
 
 To receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or  
 To exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that 

are potentially favourable to the Society. 
 
Financial assets are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when the Society becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

 
Financial assets are measured initially at the transaction price excluding transaction costs. 
Transaction costs shall be recognised as expenditure in the statement of financial activities as incurred. 
Subsequent to initial measurement, financial assets are measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
2.5 Financial assets (Continued) 
 

The Society classifies its financial assets into the following categories: 
 

(a) Receivables 
 
Receivables comprises of government funding receivables, accrued income, deposits, and 
other receivables. 
 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of fixed deposits, cash at bank and cash on hand. 

 
2.6 Prepayments 

 
Prepayments shall be initially recognised at the amount paid in advance for the economic resources 
expected to be received in the future. After initial recognition, prepayments shall be measured at the 
amount paid less the economic resources received or consumed during the financial year.  
 

2.7 Impairment of financial assets 
 
At the end of each reporting period, the Society shall assess whether there is objective evidence of 
impairment of its financial assets. If there is objective evidence of impairment (including significant 
changes with an adverse effect that have taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal 
environment in which the issuer operates), the Society shall recognise an impairment loss (i.e. 
expenditure) immediately in the statement of financial activities.  
 
Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired includes observable 
data that comes to the attention of the Society about the following loss events: 
 
(i) Significant financial difficulty of the debt/bond issuer or obligor. 

 
(ii) A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments. 

 
(iii) The creditor, for economic or legal reasons relating to the debtor’s financial difficulty, granting 

to the debtor a concession that the creditor would not otherwise consider. 
 

(iv) It has become probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial re-organisation. 
 

(v) Observable data indicating that there has been a measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, even 
though the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group, 
such as adverse national or local economic conditions or adverse changes in industry 
conditions. 

 
An impairment loss is only reversed to the extent that the assets’ carrying amount of the financial asset 
(net of any allowance account) that exceeds what the carrying amount would have been had the 
impairment not been previously recognised. The Society shall recognise the amount of the reversal in 
the statement of financial activities immediately. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
2.8 Financial liabilities 

 
Financial liabilities are any liability that is a contractual obligation by the Society to: 
 
 Deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or 
 Exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are 

potentially unfavourable to the Society. 
 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when, and only when the Society becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 
 
Financial liabilities shall be recognised at their transaction price, excluding transaction costs, if any, 
both at initial recognition and at subsequent measurement. Transaction costs shall be recognised as 
expenditure in the statement of financial activities as incurred. 
 
The Society classifies its financial liabilities into the following category: 

 
(a) Payables 

 
Payables comprise accrued operating expenses and other payables. Accruals shall be 
recognised at the best estimate of the amount payable. 
 

2.9 Deferred income 
 
Income may also be subject to donor-imposed conditions that specify the time period in which the 
expenditure can take place. Such a pre-condition for use limits the Society’s ability to expend the 
income until the time condition is met. For example, the receipt in advance of a grant for expenditure 
that must take place in a future financial period should be accounted for as deferred income and 
recognised as a liability until the financial period in which the recipient Society is allowed by the 
condition to expend the income. 
 

2.10 Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Society has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of past events where it is probable that it will result in an outflow of economic benefits to settle the 
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is 
material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the 
risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage 
of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

2.11 Funds 
 
(a) Unrestricted Fund 

 
These represent funds received by the Society that are expendable for any activity within the 
Society at the discretion of the Management Committee in furtherance of the Society’s 
charitable objectives. 

 
(b) Restricted Funds 

 
Restricted funds are funds subject to specific funded programmes by government, charity 
bodies and donors, but still within the wider objects of the Society. 

 
Restricted funds may only be utilised in accordance with the purposes established by the 
sources of such funds whereas unrestricted fund can be used in a manner the Society sees 
fit in achieving its institutional purposes. 

 
The Society classifies the following funds as restricted funds: 
 
 FSC Accumulated Fund 
 Care and Share Fund 
 Capital Grants Fund 
 SOWERS Project Fund 

 
2.12 Funds received as disbursement agent 

 
Funds received as disbursement agent are funds received but do not belong to the Society where it 
acts as agent or trustee of another charity or for the donor. The Society will act in line with the 
instructions of the principal and it has no discretion about the use to which the funds received are put. 
It does not have legal responsibility for ensuring the charitable application of the funds. 
 
The Society has the following funds received as agent: 
 

 Straits Times School Pocket Money Fund 
 Lee Foundation Financial Assistance Fund 
 FSC Comcare Fund 

 
2.13 Income recognition 
 

Income shall be recognised in the statement of financial activities when the effect of a transaction or 
other event results in an increase in the Society’s net assets. This normally arises when there is control 
over the rights or other access to the resource, enabling the Society to determine its future application, 
virtually certain that income will be received, and the amount of the income can be measured with 
sufficient reliability. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

2.13 Income recognition (Continued) 
 

(a) Income from generated funds 
 

 Voluntary income  
 

i. Donations 
 
Donations are recognised on receipt. However, donations received and 
subject to donor-imposed pre-conditions are deferred as liabilities until the 
Society is able to meet the terms of the donations. 
 

ii. Donations in kind 
 
Donations in kind that can be estimated with sufficient reliability are 
accounted for at a reasonable estimate of the price that the Society would 
have to pay in the open market for an equivalent item or at the amount 
actually realised. 
 

iii. Grants 
 
Grants which provide core funding or are of a general nature provided by 
government and charitable foundations but not including those grants which 
are specifically for the performance of a service or production of charitable 
goods, for instance a service agreement with a local authority. 

 
(b) Income from charitable activities 

 
 Grants from government organisations 

 
Grants from government organisations are recognised as income only when there is 
sufficient evidence that the Society has complied with the conditions attached to then 
and there is reasonable certainty that they will be received. These grants are 
recognised on an accrual basis. Additionally, grants recognised in the statement of 
financial activities are calculated based on the funding principles set by the individual 
organisations. Adjustments to the grants which are made on finalisation by the 
relevant organisations are recognised in the statement of financial activities in the 
financial year in which they are finalised. Grants with specific conditions are 
recognised either when they have been conformed to, or when there is sufficient 
evidence that they will be met. In instances where there is uncertainty about the ability 
of the Society to meet the conditions set by grantors, the recognition of the grant as 
income is deferred until conditions imposed at the time of the grants can be complied 
with. Grants for capital expenditures are recognised in the statement of financial 
activities when the Society has entitlement to the income and not deferred over the 
useful life of the asset. 
 

 Programme income 
 

   Programme income is recognised when services are rendered.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
2.14 Employee benefits 

 
(a) Defined contribution plan 

 
As required by law, the Society contributes to the employees’ Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) 
accounts monthly. CPF contributions are recognised as compensation expenses in the same 
period as the employment that gives rise to the contribution. 

 
(b) Employee leave entitlement 

 
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. An 
accrual is made for the estimated liability of annual leave as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the year ended. 
 

2.15 Expenditures 
 
All expenditures are accounted for on an accrual basis, aggregated under the respective areas as 
soon as there is a legal or constructive obligation committing the Society to make payment. Direct 
costs are attributed to the activity where possible. Where costs cannot be wholly attributable to an 
activity, they have been apportioned on a basis consistent with the use of resources. 
 
(a) Costs of generating funds 

 
These costs are directly attributable to generating voluntary income and income from fund-
raising activities, separate from those costs incurred in undertaking charitable activities. These 
costs are met by contributions in the form of cash sponsorships and grants. 

 
(b) Charitable activities 

 
Costs of charitable activities comprise all costs incurred in the pursuit of the charitable objects 
of the Society. The total costs of charitable expenditure include an apportionment of overhead 
and shared costs. 
 

(c) Governance costs 
 
Includes costs of preparation and examination of statutory accounts, expenses arising from 
convening board meetings, strategic planning processes that contribute to future development 
of the Society, consultancy fees incurred for the review of corporate governance, internal 
processes and controls; and fees pertaining to corporate secretarial and governance matters. 
 

2.16 Operating leases 
 
Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the 
lease term, are classified as operating leases. 
 
Operating lease payments are charged to the statement of financial activities on a straight line basis 
over the term of the lease. 
 
When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to 
be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the year in which termination 
takes place. 
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
2.17 Related party  

 
Related parties include all of the following:  
 
(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Society if that person: 

 
(i) has control or joint control over the Society; 
(ii) has significant influence over the Society; or 
(iii) is a governing board member, trustee or member of the key management personnel 

of the Society or of a parent of the Society. 
 

Related parties include all of the following:  
 
(b) An entity is related to the Society if any of the following conditions applies: 

 
(i) the entity and the Society are members of the same group (which means that each 

parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others); 
(ii) the entity is an associate or joint venture of the Society (or an associate or joint venture 

of a member of a group of which the Society is a member) and vice versa; 
(iii) the entity and the Society are joint ventures of the same third party; 
(iv) the entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the Society is an associate of the third 

entity and vice versa; 
(v) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); and 
(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a governing 

board member, trustee or member of the key management personnel of the entity (or 
of a parent of the entity). 

 
(c) Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to 

influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the Society and include: 
 
(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner; 
(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and 
(iii) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner. 
 

(d) A charity and another entity are not related parties simply because they have a governing 
board member, trustee, or other member of key management personnel in common or 
because the governing board member, trustee or other member of key management 
personnel of the charity has significant influence over the entity and vice versa. 

 
 
3 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

 
The following are significant transactions between the Society and related parties that took place 
during the financial year. The effects of these transactions are reflected in the financial statements on 
the basis determined between the parties. 
 
Significant related party transactions 
 
During the financial year, except for remuneration of key management personnel disclosed in Note 
19, the Society has no significant related party transactions (2021: Nil). 
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4 VOLUNTARY INCOME 
 

Restricted Funds
Student Care 

Centre Others
Family Service 

Centre
Total 
 2022

Total 
2021

$ $ $ $ $

Donations
   - Tax deductible - 71,580        5,320                 76,900   22,160    
   - Non tax deductible - 76,095        8,000                 84,095   36,829    
Donations-in-kind 3,590          1,400          1,950                 6,940     7,439     
Grants income 7,757          - 190,054              197,811 476,847  
Bicentennial 
Community Fund 
matching grant - 241,268      - 241,268 -
Others - - 840                    840        6,849     

11,347        390,343      206,164              607,854 550,124  

Unrestricted Funds

 
 

During the financial year, the Society issued tax deductible receipts for the donations collected totalling 
$31,900 (2021: $$67,160) of which Nil (2021: $45,000) is recognised as deferred income. 
 

 
5 INVESTMENT INCOME 
 

  Unrestricted Funds  Restricted Funds     

  

Student                           
Care 

Centre 

 
 

Others 

 Family 
Service 
Centre 

 
 

Others 

  
Total 
2022 

  
Total 
2021 

 
 $ $  $ $  $  $ 

           
Bank interest income  - -  11,323 -  11,323  29,508 

 
 
6 INCOME FROM CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES 
 

Student Care 
Centre Others

Family Service 
Centre Others

Total 
 2022

Total 
 2021

$ $ $ $ $ $
(Restated)

Programme income 150,514      -          8,104                4,316    162,934      178,539      
MSF grant -                 -          2,278,385          -           2,278,385   2,190,207   
Comchest grant -                 -          121,514             -           121,514      116,810      
Tote board grant -                 -          607,574             -           607,574      584,054      
Miscellaneous income -                 -          3,310                -           3,310         5,330         

150,514      -          3,018,887          4,316    3,173,717   3,074,940   

Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds

 
  

The Society assists lower income families to apply for Student Care Fee Assistance ("SCFA") from MSF. During
the financial year, included within SCC programme income, the total SCFA disbursed to the Society by MSF
amounted to $24,423 (2021: $24,664).  
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7 CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES EXPENDITURE 
   

Student Care 
Centre Others

Family Service 
Centre Others

Total 
 2022

Total 
 2021

$ $ $ $ $ $
(Restated)

Depreciation expense -                 -               12,885            -             12,885       16,282       
Non financial assistance 380            -               7,227              -             7,607         1,050        
Financial assistance -                 145,403    8,000              -             153,403     52,099       
Food and refreshment 13,590        -               634                 -             14,224       16,298       
Others 11,545        842          58,357            3,078      73,822       61,805       
Professional fees and 
services 4,537          18,075      32,342            3,647      58,601       63,908       
Repair and maintenance 1,949          -               5,113              113        7,175         6,431        
Rental expenses 2,186          -               8,991              -             11,177       12,977       
Staff costs* 165,208      -               2,436,787        -             2,601,995  2,304,782  
Staff training 566            -               15,419            -             15,985       7,735        

199,961      164,320    2,585,755        6,838      2,956,874  2,543,367  

Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds

 
 
 *STAFF COSTS 
 

Student Care 
Centre Others

Family Service 
Centre Others

Total 
 2022

Total 
 2021

$ $ $ $ $ $

Salaries and bonus 143,508      -           2,092,573          -          2,236,081  1,983,356   
CPF & SDL 17,673        -           312,614             -          330,287     289,509     
Other benefits 4,027          -           31,600              -          35,627       31,917       

165,208      -           2,436,787          -          2,601,995  2,304,782   

Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds

 
 
8 GOVERNANCE COSTS 
 

Student 
Care Centre Others

Family Service 
Centre Others

Total 
 2022

Total 
 2021

$ $ $ $ $ $

Audit fees 2,292         -           13,967              -        16,259    12,642    
Internal audit fees -                -           26,000              -        26,000    2,730      
Insurance -                -           905                   -        905         862         
Training -                -           -                       -        -             60           
Miscellaneous 
expenses -                -           735                   -        735         -             

2,292         -           41,607              -        43,899    16,294    

Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds
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9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Furniture fittings Office
Computers and fixtures equipment Renovation Total

$ $ $ $ $

Cost
At 01.04.2020, 01.04.2021 and 31.03.2022 14,052          7,917                 32,858           392,987         447,814             

Accumulated depreciation
At 31 March 2020 13,442          4,222                 17,236           355,621         390,521             
Charge for the financial year 610              792                   3,286             11,594           16,282               
At 31 March 2021 14,052          5,014                 20,522           367,215         406,803             
Charge for the financial year - 792                   3,286             8,807             12,885               
At 31 March 2022 14,052          5,806                 23,808           376,022         419,688             

Net carrying amount
At 31 March 2021 -               2,903                 12,336           25,772           41,011               
At 31 March 2022 -               2,111                 9,050             16,965           28,126               

Depreciation charge for the year is taken to:

2022 2021
$ $

Restricted accumulated fund 7,140             570                   
Capital Grants Fund 3,000             3,000                 
Care and Share Fund 2,745             12,712               

12,885           16,282                
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10 OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

2022 2021
$ $

Grant receivables 141,508           779,227           
Sundry receivables 33,152             43,801             
Prepayments 10,069             7,207              
Sundry deposits 4,460              3,700              

189,189           833,935           

The Society has no JSS receivable during the financial year (2021: $36,365).  
 
 
11 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
2022 2021

$ $

Fixed deposits 2,000,000        3,045,051        
Cash at bank 3,751,266        1,421,082        
Cash on hand 1,130              1,351              

5,752,396        4,467,484        

Cash at bank and on hand

Fixed deposits

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the
balances as shown above.

Cash at bank are held in non-interest bearing current accounts.

Out of the total cash at bank and on hand, $21,065 (2021: $41,290) of cash at bank balance
are funds received by the Society as disbursement agent (Note 12).

The Society places excess cash on short term deposits usually for a period of up to 6 months
(2021: up to 12 months) depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Society. 

Fixed deposits earn interest ranging from 0.3% to 0.50% per annum (2021: 0.22% to 0.48%
per annum).
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12 FUNDS RECEIVED AS DISBURSEMENT AGENT 
 

Strait Times Lee Foundation FSC
School Pocket Financial Comcare 
Money Fund Assistance Fund Fund Total 

$ $ $ $

2022
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 35,900               -                       5,390         41,290      
Funds received during the financial year 21,005               1,800                14,610       37,415      
Disbursement during the financial year (37,425)              (1,800)               (18,415)      (57,640)     
Balance at the end of the financial year 19,480               -                       1,585         21,065      

Strait Times Lee Foundation FSC
School Pocket Financial Comcare 
Money Fund Assistance Fund Fund Total 

$ $ $ $

2021 (Restated)
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 45,330               -                       8,940         54,270      
Funds received during the financial year 70,970               -                       5,060         76,030      
Disbursement during the financial year (80,400)              -                       (8,610)        (89,010)     
Balance at the end of the financial year 35,900               -                       5,390         41,290       
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12 FUNDS RECEIVED AS DISBURSEMENT AGENT (Continued) 

 
Strait Times Lee Foundation FSC

School Pocket Financial Comcare 
Money Fund Assistance Fund Fund Total 

$ $ $ $

2020 (Restated)
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 19,140               -                       2,170         21,310      
Funds received during the financial year 112,585             -                       14,400       126,985     
Disbursement during the financial year (86,395)              -                       (7,630)        (94,025)     
Balance at the end of the financial year 45,330               -                       8,940         54,270       

 
Funds received as disbursement agent are funds received but do not belong to the Society where it acts as agent or trustee of another charity or for the donor. 
The Society will act in line with the instructions of the principal, and it has no discretion about the use to which the funds received are put to. It does not have 
legal responsibility for ensuring the charitable application of the funds. 

 
(a) Straits Times School Pocket Money Fund (“SPMF”) 

 
The SPMF is a charity fund-raising project organised by The Straits Times to heighten public awareness of the plight of children from low-income 
families who were attending school without proper breakfast or pocket money to sustain their day in school. The fund raised is distributed to all FSCs 
through NCSS to benefit the eligible clients of FSCs. 

 
(b) Lee Foundation Financial Assistance Fund 

 
Lee Foundation is one-off financial assistance given to named individuals or families as income supplement for daily living expenses or children’s 
education use. The Society will disburse an equal monthly sum to beneficiaries over a prescribed period. 
 

(c) FSC Comcare Fund (“FCF”) 
 
Established by the Ministry of Social and Family Development to support the FSC’s role in helping needy Singaporeans. FCF provides immediate 
assistance to clients of FSC who require urgent and temporary financial relief to tide over their current situation.
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13 PAYABLES 
 

2022 2021
$ $

Accrued operating expenses 74,600             61,859             
Deposits and fees from students 9,570              12,060             
Sundry payables 5,293              9,550              
Deferred grant income -                     60,609             
Deferred income -                     90,000             

89,463             234,078            
 
 
14 UNRESTRICTED FUNDS  

 

Balance at 
01.04.2021 Income Expenditure Net income Transfer

Balance at 
31.03.2022

$ $ $ $ $ $

SCC 
Accumulated 
Fund 76,072        161,861   (202,253)        (40,392)      -             35,680       

Balance at 
01.04.2020 Income Expenditure Net income Transfer

Balance at 
31.03.2021

$ $ $ $ $ $

SCC 
Accumulated 
Fund 70,643        211,057   (205,628)        5,429         -             76,072       

The Society maintains separate accounts for funds designated by Management for specific designated use.
The balance and movements in these funds are presented below.
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14 UNRESTRICTED FUNDS (Continued) 

 
Balance at 
01.04.2021 Income Expenditure Net income Transfer

Balance at 
31.03.2022

$ $ $ $ $ $

Community 
Outreach 
Fund 72,184        390,343   (164,320)        226,023      -             298,207      

Balance at 
01.04.2020 Income Expenditure

Net 
expenditure Transfer

Balance at 
31.03.2021

$ $ $ $ $ $

67,913        47,139     (50,482)         (3,343)        7,614         72,184       

This fund is set up to provide financial assistance to SFSC's low income clients to help them meet their
educational, medical and daily grocery needs etc. It is also to fund ad-hoc programmes and community
outreach programmes.

Community 
Outreach 
Fund

 
 
 
15 RESTRICTED FUNDS  
 

Balance at 
01.04.2021 Income Expenditure

Net income/
(expenditure) Transfer

Balance at 
31.03.2022

$ $ $ $ $ $

FSC Accumulated Fund 4,885,182 3,236,374 (2,621,617) 614,757       -             5,499,939   
SOWERS Project Fund 12,080     4,316       (6,838)       (2,522)         -             9,558         
Care and Share Fund 10,294     -              (2,745)       (2,745)         -             7,549         
Capital Grants Fund 11,250     -              (3,000)       (3,000)         -             8,250         

4,918,806 3,240,690 (2,634,200) 606,490       -             5,525,296   

Balance at 
01.04.2020 Income Expenditure

Net income/
(expenditure) Transfer

Balance at 
31.03.2021

$ $ $ $ $ $
(Restated)

FSC Accumulated Fund 3,768,689 3,392,815 (2,276,322) 1,116,493    -             4,885,182   
SOWERS Project Fund 15,850     3,061       (6,831)       (3,770)         -             12,080       
Financial Assistance 
Fund 11,800     500          (4,686)       (4,186)         (7,614)     -            
Care and Share Fund 23,006     - (12,712)     (12,712)       -             10,294       
Capital Grants Fund 14,250     - (3,000)       (3,000)         -             11,250       

3,833,595 3,396,376 (2,303,551) 1,092,825    (7,614)     4,918,806    
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15 RESTRICTED FUNDS (Continued) 
 

(a) The assets with carrying amounts as shown below are funded by the Capital Grants Fund and 
Care and Share Fund: 

 
2022 2021

$ $
Assets
Property, plant and equipment
 - Furniture, fittings and fixtures 8,250     11,250    
 - Renovation 7,549     10,294    

15,799    21,544     
 

(b)  The purposes of the major restricted funds are set out below: 
 

•      FSC Accumulated fund 
 

The restricted fund has been established for the purpose of operating the following 
programmes of the Centre in accordance with the Family Service Centre Service Model as 
approved by the Ministry of Social and Family Development (“MSF”): 
 
(i) Casework and counselling  
(ii) Group work and community work services 

 
This is funded by the MSF, Tote Board and ComChest. 

 
•      Care and Share fund 

 
The Grant which is given out under the Care and Share movement, is managed by the 
Ministry of Social and Family Development ("MSF") and is called the Care and Share 
Matching Grant. As per the Variation to the Funding Agreement dated 30 September 2015 
(the "Agreement"), this represents a dollar and twenty-five cents for every eligible donation 
dollar for the first $1,000,000 and a dollar for every eligible donation dollar for the subsequent 
$1,000,000 that the Society raises between 1 December 2013 and 31 March 2016. The 
Grant shall be used to develop social service related VWOs and their programmes to better 
serve the beneficiaries. The Grant can be used for the following areas: 
 
(i) Capability Building 
(ii) Capacity Building 
(iii) New Initiatives/Expansion of existing services 
(iv) Critical Existing Needs (up to 20%) 
 
Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is deferred in the balance sheet and is 
amortised to statement of comprehensive income over the expected useful life of the 
relevant asset by equal annual instalments. 
 
Based on the Agreement dated 30 September 2015 and the 2nd Variation Agreement to the 
Funding Agreement dated 24 May 2020, the Society can utilise the grants up to  
31 March 2021. The Society participates in the Care and Share Matching Grant scheme and 
is subjected to the terms and conditions of the Agreement and the Operating Rules. 
 

• SOWERS Project fund         
  
This fund aims to empower homebound women from disadvantaged backgrounds to earn                     
some money to supplement their family income.  Under this project, the women are given 
training on how to sew and are able to earn an income from the sewing work.   
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15 RESTRICTED FUNDS (Continued) 

 
(b) The purposes of the major restricted funds are set out below: (Continued) 

       
•     Capital Grants fund         
  

This fund comprises capital grants to fund purchase of property, plant and equipment. Grants 
are transferred to Capital Grants Fund when amounts are utilised for purchases of property, 
plant and equipment using funds which are specifically received for purchases of property, 
plant and equipment. The depreciation charge of the assets purchased with the related grants 
are taken to the Capital Grants Fund over the useful lives of the related assets. 

 
 
16 TAX DEDUCTIBLE RECEIPTS 
 

The Society issued tax deduction receipts for donations received from voluntary income for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2022 amounting to $31,900 (2021: $67,160). 

 
 
17 INCOME TAX 
 

The Society is registered as a charity organisation under the Charities Act, Chapter 37. As an 
approved charity, it is exempted from income tax under Section 13(1) of the Income Tax Act. 

    
 
18 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 

 

Premises

Photocopier Machine

2022 2021
$ $

Within one financial year 4,560                4,560                
Within two to five financial years 10,260              14,820              

14,820              19,380              

Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases for photocopier
machines as of 31 March are as follows:

The Society has entered into operating lease agreements on its premises and photocopier
machines.

Rental expenses for premises and photocopier machines for the Society recognised in the
statement of financial activities for the financial year ended 31 March 2022 amount to $6,298 and
$4,879 (2021: $8,397 and $4,580), respectively.

The Society has entered into lease agreements with the Housing Development Board ("HDB").
Under the arrangement, the Society has continued to utilise the premises on the understanding
with HDB that the rental of premises may be terminated by either lessee or lessor without
assigning any reason thereof on giving the other one month’s notice in writing. The Society has no
intention to terminate the lease on its premises for the subsequent year. The lease agreements
do not include any contingent rent provision in the contracts.

The leases on the photocopier machines have an average tenure of 5 years with no renewal
clause. The lease agreements do not include any contingent rent provision in the contracts.
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19 REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL  
 

 2022  2021 
 $  $ 

    

Salaries and bonus 418,097  420,198 
CPF & SDL 51,714  49,862 
Other benefits 523  966 
 470,334  471,026 

 
Key management personnel consist of the Executive Director, 1 Assistant Director and 1 Clinical 
Director from social work, community engagement and corporate services (2021: Executive Directors 
and 1 Assistant Director and 1 Clinical Director from social work, community engagement, and 
corporate services). The team collectively plans, directs, and manages the Society’s vision, strategic 
plans and programmes. Salaries and bonus comprise gross annual salary, annual wage supplement, 
annual variable component, performance and other bonuses and contributions to Central Provident 
Fund. Fringe benefits are excluded. 
 
During the current financial year, amongst the 3 highest paid employees, 1 employee has received a 
total annual remuneration within the range of $100,001 to $150,000 (2021: 2 employees) and  
2 employees have received a total annual remuneration within the range of $151,001 to $200,000  
(2021: 1 employee). 
 

 
20 FUND-RAISING 
 

(a) Fund-raising appeals 
 

The Society does not have any donations arising from public fund-raising activities during the 
financial year (2021: Nil). 

 
(b) Fund-raising efficiency ratio 

 
The Society does not have any donations arising from fund-raising activities during the financial 
year (2021: Nil). 
 

   
21 MANAGEMENT OF RESERVES 
 

The Society’s reserve policy is to maintain its reserves of at least six months of operating expenses 
to ensure that services can continue to function during lean years.  

 
Net cash resources of the Society are as follows: 

 
 2022  2021 
 $  $ 
   (Restated) 
    

Receivables - excluding prepayments (Note 10) 179,120  826,728 
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 11) 5,752,396  4,467,484 
Funds received as disbursement agent (Note 12) 21,065  41,290 
Payables - excluding deferred income (Note 13) (89,463)  (83,469) 
 5,863,118  5,252,033 

 
The Society’s overall approach to management of reserves remain unchanged from the previous 
financial year. 
 
The Society is not subject to any externally imposed reserve requirements. 
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22 DONATION-IN-KIND  
 

During the financial year, the Society received pro bono services and vouchers from corporates and 
the public.  
 
The following items of donations-in-kind are captured in above statement of activities of the Society: 
 
 2022  2021 
Description $  $ 
    

    
Vouchers 3,730  2,110 
Services 3,210  - 
Sundry -  5,329 
Total 6,940  7,439 

 
 
23 RESTATEMENT OF PRIOR YEARS 
 

In prior years, the Society had recognised funds received as disbursement agent or trustee of another 
party as restricted funds. A restatement was made in the current year to reflect the actual nature of 
these funds as liabilities of the Society. The effects of the restatement on the prior year financial 
statements are as follows: 
 
 Previously 

reported 
 After 

restatement 
 2021  2021 
 $  $ 
    

Balance Sheet    
    
Current liabilities    
Funds received as disbursement agent -  (41,290) 
    
Restricted funds    
FSC Accumulated Fund 4,885,182  4,885,182 
FSC Comcare Fund 5,390  - 
School Pocket Money Fund 35,900  - 
SOWERS Project Fund 12,080  12,080 
Care and Share Fund 10,294  10,294 
Capital Grants Fund 11,250  11,250 
    
Statement of Financial Activities    
    
Income    
Income from charitable activities 76,030  - 
    
Expenditures    
Charitable activities (89,010)  - 
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23 RESTATEMENT OF PRIOR YEARS (Continued) 
 

 Previously 
reported 

 After 
restatement 

 2020  2020 
 $  $ 
    

Balance Sheet    
    
Current liabilities    
Funds received as disbursement agent -  (54,270) 
    
Funds    
FSC Accumulated Fund 3,768,689  3,768,689 
FSC Comcare Fund 8,940  - 
School Pocket Money Fund 45,330  - 
Financial Assistance Fund 11,800  11,800 
SOWERS Project Fund 15,850  15,850 
Care and Share Fund 23,006  23,006 
Capital Grants Fund 14,250  14,250 
    
Statement of Financial Activities    
    
Income    
Income from charitable activities 126,985  - 
    
Expenditures    
Charitable activities (94,025)  - 

 
 
24 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD 
 

Subsequent to the financial year end, the Society opened a bank account with Maybank.  
On 11 April 2022 a fixed deposit amounting to $1,000,756.16 was placed for a term of six months, 
with interest rate of 0.85% per annum.  
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